IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1255

THOMAS J. KELLY, M.D., and THOMAS J. KELLY, M.D., P.A.

Petitioners,

vs.

COMMUNITY HOSPITAL OF THE PALM BEACHES, INC. d/b/a HUMANA HOSPITAL - PALM BEACHES, and HUMANA, INC.,

Respondents.

On Conflict Review of a Decision
Of the Third District Court of Appeal

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Law

Offices of R. Stuart Huff, Esq. 330 Alhambra Circle Coral Gables, Florida 33134 (305) 448-8000

Lawrence & Daniels 100 North Biscayne Boulevard 21st Floor, New World Tower Miami, Florida 33132 (305) 358-3371

Attorneys for Appellants

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Thomas Kelly, M.D., and his professional association sued Humana, Inc., and a Humana-owned hospital, Community Hospital of the Palm Beaches, Inc., for fraud, breach of contract and for the destruction of his medical program. The defendants' fraud consisted of inducing Dr. Kelly to transfer his successful adolescent treatment program to Community Hospital with promises that they would furnish his program with certain professional designations, marketing services and physical facilities. Plaintiffs' breach of contract claim, after the judge refused to allow evidence that the defendants destroyed Dr. Kelly's program, was reduced to the assertion that the defendants had failed to pay certain consultants to the program (I.1-32,104-30;XXIII. 649,659-60,664-66).

The jury decided in the defendants' favor (VII.1212-14). The plaintiffs' motions for new trial and to interview jurors were denied (XI.1812). The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed, 756 So.2d 144 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000), based in part on Tejada v. Roberts, 760 So.2d 960 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000). Review was granted in this case based on express and direct conflict between Tejada and opinions of this Court and the district courts of appeal.

Dr. Kelly's Program

In the early 1970's Dr. Kelly, a child psychiatrist, began developing a residential treatment program for severely disturbed adolescents (XXV.910; XXVII.1202-04; XXVIII.1349;XXV.1676-77;XXXI. 1774, 1777-83). The core of the program was its residential community in which patients would live and obtain therapy for between 12 and 18 months (XXIII.609,615; XXVI.1054; XXVII. 1212; XXXI 1790-92). By mid-1980 the program was obtaining extraordinary therapeutic results. Most residential psychiatric programs considered a 50% readmission rate a sign of success; Dr. Kelly's program, working with the hardest cases, was achieving non-readmission rates of 85-90% (XXV.919-20;XXX.1681,1691;XXXI. 1797-98.Pl.Ex.33).

The Defendants' Fraudulent Inducements To Dr. Kelly To Bring His Program To Community Hospital

In 1985, Dr. Kelly sought to move his program from Lake Hospital to a more suitable location. Because the physical and therapeutic heart of his program was the residential treatment center ("RTC")(XXVII.1358; XXXI.1849), Dr. Kelly con-sulted with several companies which specialized in building psychiatric facilities — the last being First Hospital Corporation — about building his own RTC. Land was purchased, financial projections were made, and plans for an RTC were roughed out (XXIX.1549-51,1555-61,1575-78). Dr. Kelly, however, ceased pursuing his plans with First Hospital in November 1986, after speaking with defendant Community Hospital (XXXI.1832-33; XLIII.3463-65. Pl.Exs. 1,11,65,66).

Neils Vernegaard had become the Executive Director of Community Hospital in 1985. He had unused space in his hospital's new

psychiatric Pavilion to fill (XXVII.1213. Pl.Ex.64), and his compensation was based, in part, on his Hospital's economic performance (XXVII.1213,1214; XXXII.1835; XXXVII.2592-93,2641-42). Community Hospital, however, was an osteopathic hospital with troubled finances and a mediocre reputation (Pl.Ex. 56 p.3. XXXI. 1835-36; XXXVII.2595-98). Vernegaard was excited by the prospect of acquiring Dr. Kelly's prestigious program and thereby improving the perception and the profitability of his own hospital (XXVII.1214; XXXII.1999-2001; XXXVII.2597-98,2607-09,2613,2629-30,2633.Pl.Exs.1,11 p.2).

Humana marketed its hospitals by designating a hospital a "Center of Excellence" ("COE") in some medical specialty. Humana believed that once it designated and marketed one department within a hospital as a prestigious COE, that hospital's other departments would experience greater patient demand and physician referrals as a result of the association (XXXVI.2450-52[R.1562-63];XXXVII.2616).

In his initial meetings with Vernegaard, and with Humana executives David Rollo and Thomas Moore, Dr. Kelly was promised that his program would be designated a COE in adolescent psychiatry if he moved it from Lake to Community Hospital (XXVI.1068; XXVII.1214; XXVIII.1360-61; XXXI.1838,1840; XXXVII.2623-24,2629.Pl.Ex.11). Dr. Kelly understood that his program would become a COE shortly after its arrival at Community Hospital and that the designation was, in his words, already a "done deal." (XXVI.1068; XXVII.1215-16,1278-79; XXVIII.1361,1363,1387; XXXI.1848-49; XXXIV.2160-61).

The defendants promised Dr. Kelly two specific benefits along with his COE designation. First, Humana would assist him in publishing, in professional journals, statistics proving the success rate of his program and the results of research in adolescent psychiatry that members of his staff were conducting (XXIII.686; XXV.939,948; XXVII.1214; XXVIII.1360-62; XXX.1704; XXXI. 1814,1824-26,1842-43,1847). Second, Humana would heavily market Dr. Kelly's COE program regionally, nationally, and inter-nationally. In these ways, his program's success would become widely known and the program could draw on a broader patient and physician base (XXIII.684,686-89,692; XXIV.781; XXV.939-41,948; XXVII.1214-15,1216-17; XXVIII.1360,1361,1432-33; XXXI.1838,1840-44).

These promises were of the utmost importance to Dr. Kelly. He had long anticipated and feared the growing impact of "managed care" on long-term residential treatment programs like his. Insurance companies and HMO's were beginning to resist paying for extended care (XXV.918; XXVI.1090-91,1108-12,1114,1117-18; XXVII. 1261,1284-85,1298-99;XXVIII.1390,1393-94;XXXI.1822,1886-87).

Dr. Kelly told the defendants during negotiations that the best way his program could weather the rapid onset of managed care was if, (1) it were widely marketed so as to draw on an affluent patient base that was not dependent upon insurance or HMO benefits, and, (2) its therapeutic success were professionally published. In this way, insurance companies and HMO's, despite their preference for shorter treatments, would pay for his program because of his professional

reputation and documented results (XXIII.685-86;XXIV.778-79,781-82;XXV.919,934-35,937-38;XXVII.1214; XXXI.1822-24,1827,1886-87; XXXII.1998-99; XXXVII.2638-39; XL.2985. Pl.Ex.55).

The defendants also promised Dr. Kelly that they would build an RTC and other facilities for his program (XXIII. 691; XXVIII.1360-61.XXXI.1853,1858-59,1909;XXXVII2635-36). The RTC was an essential part of Dr. Kelly's program: it kept long-term patient costs down and it would have given Dr. Kelly's type of self-contained therapeutic community the room it needed to expand (XXV.928-29;XXVI.1094;XXVII.1206;XXXI.1796,1854). The small wing that Dr. Kelly's program would occupy at Community Hospital's Pavilion, while adequate for the program's short-term needs, was not the long-term residential facility his program required (XXIII.635-36).

On the strength of the defendants' promises of a prompt COE designation and attendant marketing, research, and publication support, and that they would build a new RTC and other facilities for his program, Dr. Kelly did not pursue his plans for an RTC with First Hospital. He signed a one-year, self-renewing contract with Community Hospital effective January 1, 1987, and moved his staff and patients from Lake to Community Hospital approximately 3 weeks later. Dr. Kelly's contract, called a "Professional Services Agreement," denominated him the "Medical Director" of the Hospital's adolescent psychiatric unit (Def.Ex. A.; Pl.Ex. 13. XXIII.694;XXIV.764,774;XXXI.1864-65,1920-21;XXXII. 1941-43).

The defendants, however, refused to designate Dr. Kelly's program a COE until November 1, 1988, twenty-two months <u>after</u> the initial contract began (XXXVI.1075. Pl.Ex.24). After he filed suit, Dr. Kelly learned the reason for Humana's inaction: on January 23, 1987, just a few days after Dr. Kelly had moved his program to Community Hospital, Thomas Moore, Humana's Director of Centers of Excellence, wrote a letter to Vernegaard revealing that Humana never had any intention of giving Dr. Kelly the COE support he had been promised (Pl.Exs.14, 18).

After belatedly and begrudgingly bestowing a COE designation on Dr. Kelly's program, basically to keep Dr. Kelly from moving (Pl.Ex. 25;XXVI.1034; XXXVII.2656), Humana withheld every other inducement it had promised. Humana refused to market Dr. Kelly's program (XXIII.692;XXVII.1218-19;XXXI.1876-77), refused to support or help publish his program's research studies and therapeutic successes in order to convince insurance companies and HMOs to patronize the program (XXIII.693;XXVI.1051;XXVII.1219-20; XXXI. 1876,1886-87), and refused to provide Dr. Kelly with an RTC and other promised facilities (XXXI.1870-72,1908-09;XXXIV.2261-64. Pl. Ex. 19, 23,40, 44-49,59,60).

David Rollo, Humana's Senior Vice-President of Medical Affairs, admitted that Humana ultimately gave Dr. Kelly nothing more than a bare and useless COE designation:

Q. When Doctor Kelly finally got the decision that it did to be a Center of Excellence some 23 or 24 months after you were down there [to meet and recruit Dr. Kelly], was

there any single benefit other than hollow name, Center of Excellence, that Humana conferred upon Kelly?

A. Not that I know of. (XXXVI.2520[R.1632]).

The Defendants' Destruction Of Dr. Kelly's Program

Dr. Kelly's May 1, 1989, contract with Community Hospital was to expire on April 30, 1990. Not pleased with Community Hospital, but not wanting to move his staff and patients again, Dr. Kelly began negotiating a new contract. His previous contracts had not been renewed on their anniversary dates leading Dr. Kelly to believe that some delay between the expiration of his old contract and its renewal was to be expected (XXXII. 1961-62. Pl.Ex.21). Vernegaard told Dr. Kelly in May 1990 that a new contract had already been prepared, that it should be in soon (I.128-30;XXXI. 1760;XXXIII.2075-76. Pl.Exs.1-P,1-Q for I.D.), and that, pending the written contract, he "should continue to act as though [he] had one" (XXXII.1962).

Dr. Kelly continued to exercise all the functions of Medical Director of the adolescent psychiatric unit until September 4, 1990. On that day he was shocked to receive a letter from the Hospital advising him that "discussing a possible future contract at this time" would not be in the Hospital's interests and relieving him of his duties as Medical Director (XXIII.731, 732; XXV.980,983-84;XXXII.1961.Pl.Ex.37).

Events between the expiration of Dr. Kelly's last contract on April 30, 1990, and his termination as Medical Director on September 4, 1990, were vital components of the plaintiffs' case. While Dr. Kelly's program began being adversely impacted by the defendants' actions prior to April 30, 1990, it was during the next four months that the defendants irrevocably destroyed his valuable program. The judge, however, ruling that no contractual relationship existed between the parties after April 30th, excluded virtually all evidence and testimony of events from May 1, 1990, to September 4, 1990 (XXIII.728-34;XXIV.866-85;XXV-XXVI.952-1013, 1136-44;XXXI.1175,1757-72,1914-18;XLII.3409-10), and directed the jury not to consider what happened during that period (XXXI.1773).

Pursuant to this ruling, the plaintiffs were prevented from developing evidence of the disintegration of Dr. Kelly's program during the post-April 30th period (XXV.952-93;XXVII.1142-68,1178-79;XXXI.1749-51;XXXII.1986-87;LIII.2901,et seq.), as well as from proving the destructive effects of the defendants' actions on Dr. Kelly's program (XXX.968;XXXII.1970-79).

Dr. Kelly was unable to prove how he was prevented from admitting new patients to his program. Nor could Dr. Kelly prove how his program, which the Hospital agreed was to be self-contained and under his exclusive control, was affected when outside physicians hostile to his methods admitted inappropriate patients to the program (Def.Ex.B, "Addendum" ¶¶C,D.Pl.Ex.38. XXVI. 1119;XXXI.1905-06).

Other forms of destructive interference by persons in the Hospital unsympathetic to Dr. Kelly's program similarly could not be fully explored and were excluded by the judge's ruling (XXIII.706-14;XXVI.1136-37). Dr. Kelly, for example, was unable to show how the defendants tried to force him to resign by threats of administrative action and how they tried to "blackmail" him by trumped-up charges of improper record-keeping, or how threats and destructive behaviors by the Hospital's administrative personnel resulted in the departure of key members of his skilled and dedicated staff (XXII.459-460;XXIII.717-733;XXV.952,957,969-70; XXVI.1001-1002,1014-16,1026).

Dishonest Juror Responses On Voir Dire And Juror Misconduct

1. Jury Foreman Truman Skinner

a. <u>Disbarment</u>

When it was juror Truman Skinner's turn to be questioned by the judge on voir dire, the judge suddenly realized that he knew Skinner. The following colloquy ensued:

COURT: Truman Arnold Skinner. And I didn't

recognize you at first. How are you?

SKINNER: Good to see you.

COURT: Good to see you.

SKINNER: I am age 61.

. . . .

SKINNER: I ... practiced law in Miami for

31 years and am now retired.

COURT: Oh, how nice. I didn't know that you

had retired. When did you do that?

SKINNER: About two years ago.

COURT: You're either doing a lot of fishing

or golf or what have you. Too young

to retire though.

(XIX.80-81). Skinner did not respond.

Post-verdict investigation revealed that Skinner had not "retired" from The Florida Bar. This Court had suspended him from the practice of law in July 1994 on the Bar's Petition for Emergency Suspension which alleged that Skinner had "caused great public harm" (XLVII.1887 Tabs 2,3; The Florida Bar v.Skinner, 641 So.2d 1347 (Fla. 1994)). The Petition was supported by the affidavit of a Bar accountant who stated "that there is clear, convincing and undeniable evidence that respondent misappropriated funds entrusted to him" and that, as of April 1994, Skinner had a \$283,651.43 shortage in his trust account.

In October 1994, Skinner filed in this Court a "Petition For Disciplinary Resignation" without leave to apply for readmission for 5 years (XLVII.1887 Tab 4). Skinner admitted in the Petition to prior wrongdoing in 1985, 1987, and 1989, including an incident involving "the manner in which he handled funds entrusted to him" for which he was privately reprimanded in 1991 (XLVII.1887 Tab 4). The Petition was granted. The Florida Bar v. Skinner, 650 So.2d 992 (Fla. 1994).

The United States Supreme Court subsequently ordered Skinner to show cause why he should not be disbarred, <u>In re Disbarment of Skinner</u>, 513 U.S. 1124 (1995), and thereafter disbarred him. <u>In re Disbarment of Skinner</u>, 514 U.S. 1012 (1995) (XLVII.1887 Tab 5).

b. Prior crimes and lawsuits

During the defendants' voir dire, the following occurred:

COUNSEL: This is a contract case, and I didn't

ask you, has anybody ever been involved in a lawsuit involving breach of a contract in any way?

Raise your hand. Anybody?

Okay, Mr. Skinner, was that

personally or professionally?

SKINNER: Both.

COUNSEL: Both. All right. And in connection

with your personal contracts suit -professionally, I'm sure a lot, but, personally, were you a plaintiff or

the defendant?

SKINNER: Both.

COUNSEL: Both. Was this more than one suit?

SKINNER: Yes.

COUNSEL: And how long ago are these suits?

SKINNER: Oh, one a couple of weeks ago [e.s.].

COUNSEL: And the one a couple of weeks ago,

are you the plaintiff or the

defendant? [e.s.].

SKINNER: That one, defendant, but --

COUNSEL: And what was the nature of the

contract claim?

SKINNER: Money damages.

COUNSEL: And, then, you were in one where you

were a plaintiff? [e.s.].

SKINNER: Yes.

COUNSEL: Now, did these contract claims

involve oral or written agreements or

both?

SKINNER: I think all of them have been written

contract disputes.

COUNSEL: Written contract disputes?

SKINNER: Yes. I think so.

COUNSEL: And on all of the times when you were

either being sued or were suing on a written contract dispute, were there any allegations as to any oral representations in those suits or did the written contract contain the entire agreement of the parties?

SKINNER: There were allegations with oral

modifications in one of them.

COUNSEL: Is that the one where you were the

plaintiff or the defendant? [e.s.].

SKINNER: Defendant.

(XIX.162-164).

Defense counsel subsequently asked the panel:

Now, I asked you if you had been involved in any contract actions. Let me ask you this, has anybody been involved in a lawsuit, other than those, of course, that I already asked? Just a lawsuit of any kind, ever been involved before, personally?

(XIX.167). Another prospective juror-attorney named Minsker volunteered that he had been involved in various lawsuits including a partnership dispute, landlord-tenant disputes, and "commercial business matters" (XIX.167). Other panel members disclosed other lawsuits (XIX.168-170). Skinner, however, remained silent.

Plaintiffs' attorney re-voir dired the jury (XIX.171-72), and accepted Skinner as a juror based on the foregoing questions and responses (XIX.177-78).

Post-verdict investigation revealed that between 1980 and 1996 Skinner had been a party in over 50 legal proceedings (XLVII.1887 Tabs 6-11). The approximate breakdown of only those cases shown on the Dade Circuit Court computer printout is as follows: 23 contract, 1 eminent domain, 1 landlord-tenant, 6 mortgage, 2 professional, 1 real property and 13 general "civil." Skinner appears to have been a defendant in approximately 25 of these cases, a plaintiff in 7, and an unspecified party in 14 (XLVII.1887 Tabs 6-11).

Several of the foregoing cases involved fraud. In Toyota Motor Credit Corp. v. Lake Worth Hosp. Corp. & Truman Skinner (1995), Skinner was accused, essentially, of converting an automobile (XLVII.1887 Tab 9). In Berg v. Skinner (1996), Skinner was accused of misrepresentation and fraud (XLVII.1887 Tab 8). In Citibank v. Singh (1994), Skinner, along with others, was accused of a "conspiratorial scheme" to commit "fraud on the judicial system and other lien-holders." (XLVII.1887 Tab 11). In Lake Worth Hosp. Corp. v. Skinner (1993), Skinner was accused of defrauding his client, Lake Worth Hospital (XLVII.1887 Tab 7).

Skinner apparently had the latter case in mind during his voir dire. When defense counsel asked the panel collectively whether any one had had a "personal experience" that biased them against hospitals, Skinner stated:

SKINNER: Let me ask you this, because I think it could be important. Is Community

Hospital of the Palm Beaches located

in Lake Worth?

COUNSEL: It's located in Riviera, on 46th

Street.

SKINNER: Not on 10th, in Lake Worth.

COUNSEL: No, that's Lake Hospital.

SKINNER: It used to have a corporate name of

Community Hospital or something like

that.

(XIX.146-147). Skinner never disclosed his Lake Worth Hospital lawsuit.

Skinner also had been a defendant in federal civil and criminal proceedings (VII.1222-23). In <u>Citibank, N.A., v. Data Lease Financial Corp.</u>, 828 F.2d 686 (11th Cir. 1987), <u>cert. denied</u>, 484 U.S. 1062 (1988), Skinner, as a director of the Miami National Bank, was accused of civil theft, fraud, false statements and untruthfulness. In <u>United States v. Stefan</u>, 784 F.2d 1093,1103 (11th Cir. 1986), and <u>United States v. Freedman</u>, 686 F.2d 1364 (11th Cir. 1982), Skinner, Leo Greenfield, and others, were indicted for conspiracy to defraud the Miami National Bank.

This case was apparently settled in 1988 by a payment from Skinner and his fellow Directors, to Data Lease, of \$1 million. Citibank, N.A. v. Data Lease Fin. Corp., 904 F.2d 1498, 1500 (11th Cir. 1990). This case was related to a dispute in state court involving Data Lease, Miami National Bank and Citibank, see, e.g., Citibank, N.A. v. Data Lease Fin. Corp., 478 So.2d 76 (Fla. 4th DCA 1985), as well as to another protracted dispute between Data Lease and Blackhawk Heating & Plumbing Co. See, e.g., Blackhawk Heating & Plumbing Co. v. Data Lease Fin. Corp., 446 So.2d 127,128 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983)("Since 1973 this case has appeared in either this Court or the Supreme Court of Florida more than ten times").

2. Juror Karen Tarkoff.

The day after Skinner's voir dire, in order to supplement the panel that had just lost several jurors for hardship reasons, a new group of potential jurors was voir dired. One, Karen Tarkoff, stated, in response to plaintiffs' counsel's question to the panel about prior lawsuits, that she had been sued on a contract by a swimming pool contractor (XXI.315).

About 14 transcript lines later, in response to counsel's question about prior lawsuits, another juror asked, "Does divorce count?" to which plaintiffs' counsel replied, "It does unfortunately" (XXI.316). Several jurors then disclosed their divorce cases (XXI.318-19).

Plaintiffs' counsel asked the panel members to reveal anything in their private lives that might affect their fairness as jurors (XXI.320,352,363). Defense counsel asked the panel, collectively, whether they had any feelings regarding "fraud" actions "which might predispose [them] to one side or the other?" (XXI.328-29). Tarkoff remained silent.

Post-trial investigation disclosed that Tarkoff was the petitioner in a recently-filed divorce action. In her 1996 verified complaint in that action Tarkoff swore that her husband "earns a substantial income as a successful criminal defense attorney," that "[a] significant portion of [that] income is undeclared," and that as a result of her husband's "substantial income," she and her husband "enjoy a life of luxury" (XLVII.1887 Tab 12).

Investigation further revealed that Tarkoff's husband had been federally indicted for participating in a conspiracy to commit Medicare fraud and launder the fraud proceeds between 1994 and 1997. While the indictment is undated, the last overt act alleged in the indictment occurred on June 16, 1997 (XLVII.1887 Tab 13). The trial in the present case began August 18, 1997.

3. Juror Robert Dawson

Dawson was repeatedly told by the judge and plaintiffs' counsel of the importance of having impartial and unbiased jurors (XIX.67,95-97,117,123). During voir dire, plaintiffs' counsel described Dr. Kelly's earnings at some length, stated that Dr. Kelly was a "very successful psychiatrist," and observed that most people will never earn what Dr. Kelly earned. The jury was collectively asked whether, as a consequence, any juror had any "prejudice or resentment" or "feelings like that" concerning Dr. Kelly's wealth that might affect his or her ability to award him money (XIX.104-105). Dawson did not admit to any prejudice against Dr. Kelly's wealth (VII.1260;XI.1689).

4. Skinner-Tarkoff-Dawson Misconduct.

The judge instructed the jurors that they "should not form or express any opinion about the case until you are retired to the jury room to consider your verdict," and that, "[d]uring [trial] recesses, you shall not discuss the case amongst yourselves or with anyone else. Nor permit anyone to say anything to you or in your presence about [the] case." (XX.231-233).

In a sworn amendment to plaintiffs' motion for new trial and to interview jurors, plaintiffs' attorney stated that he was told by alternate juror Herrero, that,

jurors Skinner, Tarkoff and Dawson decided this case in favor of the Defendants from the outset of trial, and they repeatedly violated the Court's directives by discussing the case among themselves and attempting to persuade other jurors to pro-defense positions throughout the trial. They ignored the requests of the other jurors to stop discussing the testimony and evidence. Mrs. Tarkoff, upon information, invited Juror Castro to her home to discuss the case; Juror Castro declined.

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