IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case Number: SC00-1255

THOMAS J. KELLY, M.D. and THOMAS J. KELLY, M.D., P.A.

Petitioners,

v.

COMMUNITY HOSPITAL OF THE PALM BEACHES, INC., d/b/a HUMANA HOSPITAL - PALM BEACHES, and HUMANA, INC.

Respondents.

On Review of a Decision of The Third District Court of Appeal Case Number: 3D98-0907

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

BUCKINGHAM, DOOLITTLE & BURROUGHS, LLP 2500 North Military Trail Suite 480 Boca Raton, FL 33431 Phone: (561) 241-0414 Fax: (561) 241-9766 HALICZER, PETTIS & WHITE 101 NE Third Avenue Sixth Floor Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 Phone: (954) 523-9922 Fax: (954) 522-2512

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Resolution of the conflict issue in <u>Tejada</u> will have no effect on this appeal. The Third District cited multiple cases in its per curiam opinion, all of which independently support an affirmance in this case. Thus, this Court should discharge this case as conflict jurisdiction was improvidently granted.

Presumably, this Court accepted jurisdiction in <u>Tejada</u> to resolve a conflict with <u>DeLaRosa v. Zequeira</u>, 659 So. 2d 239 (Fla. 1995), regarding when a party must review public records to investigate a juror's truthfulness in response to questions asked during voir dire. In <u>Tejada</u>, the Third District held that a party must conduct this investigation before the trial concludes, preferably during voir

¹ All citations to the attached Appendix include reference to the appendix number and page number (i.e., (A1)).

dire, and that a party's failure to do so constitutes a lack of due diligence, precluding a new trial or juror interview after an unfavorable verdict.

In the present case, even though the Third District cited <u>Tejada</u>, neither party raised the timing of the juror investigation. Humana never contended that Kelly's failure to investigate the jurors prior to the conclusion of voir dire and the commencement of trial in any way precluded a new trial or a juror interview. Rather, Humana argued that the jurors did not misrepresent any information material to jury service in this case, and that Kelly's counsel's own lack of diligence, or failure to inquire about the jurors' backgrounds, resulted in the waiver of any argument that the jurors concealed anything at all.

Importantly, the Third District cited to several cases besides <u>Tejada</u> that independently support the affirmance. Thus, regardless of how this Court decides <u>Tejada</u>, the Third District's affirmance is wholly supported by case law. Accordingly, "piggyback" jurisdiction is not appropriate and the Third District's affirmance should stand.

The other issues raised by Petitioners, which this Court has the discretion not to address, also resulted in a per curiam affirmance by the Third District. The Third District determined that Petitioners had not demonstrated an abuse of discretion or prejudice from the exclusion of post-contract evidence or the

requested jury instructions on negligent misrepresentation or implied provisions of a contract.

ARGUMENT

The district court's per curiam affirmance in this case cited to a number of cases, other than <u>Tejada</u>, addressing each issue on appeal and supporting its affirmance of the jury verdict wholly independent of <u>Tejada</u>. Accordingly, this case will not be affected by this Court's decision in <u>Tejada</u>, and the petition for review should be dismissed as improvidently granted.

A review of the cases cited in support of the Third District's per curiam affirmance negates Kelly's argument that <u>Tejada</u> can have any affect on this case. This is particularly true in light of the fact that the timing of juror background investigations was not raised by the parties below.

The additional cases cited by the Third District, discussed in detail below, support the affirmance of the jury verdict independent of (and in addition to) the reasons why the Third District Court of Appeal may have cited to <u>Tejada</u>. As such, Humana contends that it is not necessary, or appropriate, for the parties in this case to argue the merits of <u>Tejada</u>, or even to speculate why the Third District cited to <u>Tejada</u> in this case. Regardless of whether <u>Tejada</u> is a "flawed" decision, whether it conflicts with any existing law, or whether it should be applied prospectively, this case will remain unaffected, as the remaining cases cited by the Third District, standing alone, support the affirmance in Humana's favor

I. The trial court and district court properly concluded that Kelly was not entitled to a new trial or a juror interview based on alleged juror misconduct.

Humana's answer brief filed before the Third District responded in detail to Kelly's allegations of juror misconduct now reiterated almost verbatim in Kelly's initial brief on the merits. Rather than simply repeat the response, a copy of Humana's answer brief is attached for the Court's convenience (A2 21-33).

Kelly failed to prove that the jurors omitted material facts during voir dire questioning. At best, the jurors' responses to the questions posed were ambiguous, and were not misrepresentations of material facts. More importantly, Kelly's counsel never took the opportunity to inquire about Mr. Skinner's occupation, the circumstances surrounding his retirement or his prior litigation history in an attempt to clarify his responses to those questions posed by <u>defense</u> counsel. Kelly's own attorneys readily admitted that they "forgot to ask the jurors about their prior lawsuits" and "inadvertently failed to ask Skinner any questions about his prior litigation." (A3 14, 31).

In its per curiam affirmance, the Third District agreed with Humana, citing <u>Taylor v. Public Health Trust of Dade County</u>, 546 So. 2d 733 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989), *rev. denied*, 557 So. 2d 867 (Fla. 1989), a case cited throughout Humana's answer brief. <u>Taylor</u> involved a factually similar situation wherein the plaintiff alleged misconduct on the part of a juror who became the foreman. In <u>Taylor</u>, the

Third District held that the trial court had not abused its discretion in denying the plaintiff's motion for a new trial based on a one-word response during voir dire examination. <u>Id.</u> at 734. The court further concluded that the statement was not necessarily a misrepresentation and pointed to plaintiff's counsel's lack of diligence:

Contrary to the plaintiff's argument, the subject response was ambiguous in nature and did not constitute, as urged, a misrepresentation of fact concerning the juror's involvement with a pending lawsuit; moreover, the plaintiff's counsel made no inquiry into this matter and did not seek to clarify the ambiguous response.

<u>Id</u>.

The Third District's citation per curiam affirmance also cited to its earlier decision in <u>Salmon v. State</u>, 755 So. 2d 148 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000), wherein the court concluded that the complaining party's allegations of juror misconduct were "insufficient to find that the juror lacked the requisite impartial state of mind to render a fair verdict." <u>Id.</u> The Third District concluded the alleged non-disclosures by jurors were "insufficient as a matter of law to vitiate the entire trial." <u>Id.</u> (citation omitted).

Similarly, the jurors' responses to voir dire questions by the <u>defense</u> here were, at worst, ambiguous, and Kelly's counsel failed to use due diligence despite being given a second opportunity to question the jury panel. In fact, Kelly's counsel elected not to question the jurors about the issues of which they now complain. Clearly, the Third District's decision, citing to <u>Taylor</u> and <u>Salmon</u> is sustainable regardless of <u>Tejada</u>.

II. The district court properly concluded that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to instruct the jury on the issues of negligent misrepresentation and implied contract.

Since this Court has preliminarily accepted conflict jurisdiction pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), it also retains discretion to address the other issues raised on appeal. However, Humana contends that this Court need not exercise that discretionary jurisdiction particularly where, as here, there is no conflict, apparent error or injustice. *See, e.g.,* <u>In re M.F.,</u> 770 So. 2d 1189, 1195 n.15 (Fla. 2000)(declining to address issues raised that are not the basis of the Court's discretionary jurisdiction). The law cited by the Third District, on the issues of jury instructions and the exclusion of evidence (addressed below in Argument III), is well-settled.

With regard to the jury instructions, Humana contended, in the post-trial and appellate proceedings, that there had been no abuse of the trial court's sound discretion and that Kelly had not been prejudiced by the trial court's failure to utilize his requested instructions on negligent misrepresentation and implied contractual provisions. (A2 34-38). The Third District agreed, citing to <u>Sears</u> <u>Roebuck & Co. v. McKenzie</u>, 502 So. 2d 940 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987).

<u>McKenzie</u> stands for the proposition that, to demonstrate reversible error, the complaining party must establish that the requested jury instruction contained an accurate statement of the law, that the facts in the case supported giving the instruction, and that the instruction was necessary for the jury to properly resolve the issues in this case. <u>Id.</u> at 942 (citations omitted). Otherwise stated, Kelly was required to convince the Third District that the trial court's failure to give the requested jury instructions resulted in a "reasonable possibility that the jury could have been misled by the failure to give the instruction" or was otherwise prejudicial. <u>Id.</u> (citations omitted). The Third District concluded that Kelly did not meet this burden and affirmed in the absence of such prejudice.

The Third District also cited Lynch v. McGovern, 270 So. 2d 770 (Fla. 4th DCA 1972), which notes that it cannot be deemed error when a trial court does not charge the jurors as to each and every inference that they might, or might not, indulge. <u>Id.</u> at 772. Rather, if the jury charges, as a whole, are adequate to advise the jury of the law of the case (as Humana argued they were), there is no reversible error based on the trial court's refusal to charge the jury as requested. <u>Id.</u>

Thus, the Third District's decision to uphold the trial court's discretionary decisions as to the exclusion of requested jury instructions was wholly unrelated to, and independent from, its citation to <u>Tejada</u>, and, absent a showing of an abuse of discretion, the affirmance should be upheld.

III. The district court properly concluded that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to allow the introduction of postcontract conduct between the parties.

Kelly also appealed the trial court's exclusion of evidence of the parties' actions after the contract period had expired. Humana's argument on appeal, set forth in its answer brief (A2 38-40), was four-fold.

Humana argued that there were no allegations in Kelly's pleadings directed at the conduct or actions of Humana following the expiration of the contracts between the parties. Further, in light of Humana's numerous objections and the trial court's exclusion of this evidence the issue was clearly not tried by consent.

Second, with regard to Kelly's fraudulent inducement claim, Humana took the position that conduct taken by Humana or its agents <u>after</u> the contract had been entered into could not possibly support an argument that Kelly had been fraudulently induced into <u>entering</u> the contract.

Third, with regard to Kelly's breach of contract claim, Humana argued that any post-contract activity between the parties could not be deemed relevant to a breach of the contract, which must have occurred during the time the contract was in existence.

Finally, Humana recognized that the post-contract conduct between the parties may have been relevant to the damages that Kelly purportedly suffered. Because the jury did not find that Humana had fraudulently induced Kelly to enter

into the contract, or that Humana had unfairly breached the contract, the jury never reached the damages section of the verdict form, and the exclusion of the postcontract conduct was nonetheless harmless.

The Third District agreed with Humana and affirmed the trial court's discretionary ruling, citing <u>Jimenez v. Gulf & Western Mfg. Co.</u>, 458 So. 2d 58 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), also cited by Humana in its answer brief. <u>Jimenez</u> holds that "the admission of evidence is a matter within the sound judicial discretion of the trial judge, whose decision in that regard must be viewed in the context of the entire trial." <u>Id.</u> at 59 (citation omitted).

Again, the Third District based its affirmance on the trial court's evidentiary ruling on long-standing principles of law which were unrelated to, and will ultimately be unaffected by, the <u>Tejada</u> decision. Absent anything to suggest an abuse of discretion by the trial court, the Third District's affirmance should be upheld.

CONCLUSION

Although the Third District cited <u>Tejada</u> to support its per curiam affirmance, it also cited to separate, independent, well-settled case law supporting each issue on appeal. Each of the cases cited supports affirmance. As such, there is no need for this Court to accept discretionary review of this case. The Third District's affirmance based on the other cases cited is sufficient, independent of

this Court's review and disposition of <u>Tejada</u>, regardless of the outcome. Accordingly, Humana respectfully suggests that this Court should conclude that "piggyback" jurisdiction has been improvidently granted and dismiss the petition based on a finding that the Third District's opinion that Kelly was not entitled to a new trial or a juror interview should be sustained for reasons unrelated to <u>Tejada</u>.